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Where Samuel Downer Kept Store
History, trad ition  and an a ir of m ystery 

hover over the old house a t  617 E ast Broad 
S tree t in which Mr. and Mrs. David S. Rob­
erts now reside. I t  once stood below the old 
brick Academy, facing the church green and 
near neighbor to the  Downer hom estead, a f ­
terw ards known as the Kinch house, a t  Broad 
S tree t and M ountain Avenues. Its  a rch itect 
and builder, Samuel Downer, was so deeply 
rooted in this soil th a t early  historians claimed 
fo r him the distinction of en terta in ing  W ash­
ington here, although he was a drum m er boy 
in the arm y when his comm ander-in-chief was 
supposed to  have been his guest.

Samuel Downer was born in 1760, the son 
of a blacksm ith whose forge stood on J e ru ­
salem Road, beyond the presen t Em bree Cres­
cent. Young Downer was reared  in humble 
circum stances, bu t he was shrewd, th rif ty  and 
aggressive, and by the time he had reached 
his th irty -fo u rth  birthday he had accum ulated 
sufficient funds to purchase land in the heart 
of the  village. In 1794, he and A zariah Clark 
took title  to adjoining lots on the north  side 
of Broad S tree t, from  M ountain Avenue to a 
point near the  present Elm S treet. Clark 
built the Town Tavern, opposite the Road to 
Rahway (now C entral Avenue) in the same 
year, and Downer built his house a few  years 
la ter, probably about 1796.

T radition says th a t Downer kept store in 
his house, bu t, if  so, only fo r  a short tim e, 
fo r his fam ily was grow ing rapidly— there 
were th irteen  Downer children— and as his 
activities as a m erchant, banker, politician 
and churchm an increased, he was obliged to 
look elsewhere fo r  business quarters. Since 
there  could be no more convenient nor cen­
tra l location than his own back yard, he built 
the store  there . Pearson Greaves fixes the 
date a t  “ about 1804” . The store was large, 
w ith living quarte rs  on the second floor, and

it well m ay be th a t the  Downer over-flow 
lodged here.

Downer died in 1846, and Isaac H. P ie r­
son, who had come here from  M orristown to 
teach in the Academy and was postm aster 
from 1836 to  1840, took over the store  in 
1849. Dr. A drian C. Kinch bought the  prop­
erty , enlarged the hom estead (it has since 
been twice rem odeled) and leased the store 
to Jam es T. Pierson. The new proprie tor 
made it  his home as well as place of business; 
A rthu r Pierson was born here and reached 
into the cracker barrel fo r nourishm ent 
when his fa th e r  was busy w ith custom ers. 
Jam es T. carried on in the old town tradition . 
Like the acquisitive Sam Downer, he was an 
up-and-com ing man of affairs— postm aster, 
politician, P resbyterian  deacon, and m erchant 
with a keen eye fo r a  profitable real estate 
deal. Persons concerned about the doctrines 
of Calvinism, Republicanism or the high cost 
of living, dropped into the store to consult 
with Jam es T. He knew the chap ter and 
verse to  fit the case.

Good fo rtune  attend ing  his Yankee in­
genuity , in 1882 Jam es T. bought a lo t on 
the northw est corner of Broad and Elm 
S treets, bu ilt a store there and form ed a 
business partnership  with W. W. Gilby in 
the grocery and dry goods business. He then 
bought his form er store from  Dr. Kinch and 
moved it to  its p resen t site on E ast Broad 
S tree t and converted it  into an a ttrac tive  
residence.

Captain John Sansom, skipper of the f ru it  
steam er “ A dirondack,” plying betw een New 
York and the W est Indies, bought the house 
in 1885 and named it “ Stanley C ottage,” 
a f te r  the  noted A frican explorer, then in the 
public eye. S tanley Oval, which A rth u r P ie r­
son developed la te r, derives its name from  
this source.


